FILED
JUNE 09, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 32210-6-III

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

JOSÉ L. BIRRUETA,

Respondent,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON,

Appellant.

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

Paul Weideman
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA No. 42254
Office ID No. 91018
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 389-3820

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves the Department of Labor and Industries' ability to correct information that it relied on to pay workers' compensation benefits to an injured worker when the Department learns that the worker misrepresented that information on the application for benefits.

In 2004, José Birrueta, or someone on his behalf, stated on his application for workers' compensation benefits that he was married. This was not true. The misrepresentation caused the Department to issue several wage orders, including an otherwise final December 17, 2008 wage order, stating that Birrueta was married. As a result, Birrueta received more benefits than he was entitled to receive.

In 2011, Birrueta informed the Department for the first time that he was single when he was injured. The Department issued an order under RCW 51.32.240(1) changing Birrueta's marital status from married to single to ensure that he would receive the correct amount of pension benefits in the future. The Department also ordered him to repay \$100 in time loss benefits that it overpaid during the six weeks before Birrueta's placement on pension. Consistent with RCW 51.32.240(1)'s one-year recoupment period, the Department did not seek to recoup benefits that it overpaid to Birrueta in previous years.

RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) requires workers to repay, and authorizes the Department to recoup, overpaid benefits that result from innocent misrepresentation. As the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals has repeatedly decided, RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) also authorizes the Department to correct the misrepresented fact that causes the overpayments even if that fact appears in an otherwise final order.

Under RCW 51.32.240(1)(a), the Department had authority to change Birrueta's marital status from married to single. The superior court erred when it concluded that the Department could neither change Birrueta's marital status nor recoup benefits based on his misrepresented marital status. Accordingly, this Court should reverse.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The superior court erred in entering finding of fact 6. The December 17, 2008 order is not final and binding as to Birrueta's marital status because RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) creates an exception to finality in the case of innocent misrepresentation.
2. The superior court erred in entering finding of fact 2, which adopted the Board's finding of fact 3 that the December 17, 2008 order became final. The December 17, 2008 order is not final as to Birrueta's marital status because RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) creates an exception to finality in the case of innocent misrepresentation.
3. The superior court erred in concluding that the Department was without authority to issue the March 24, 2011 overpayment order, which was affirmed in the June 7, 2011, order.

4. The superior court erred in concluding that the Department was without authority to issue the June 2, 2011 order changing Birrueta's marital status from married to single.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Does RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) authorize the Department to correct a worker's marital status where the worker innocently misrepresented his marital status when applying for benefits, the Department relied on the misrepresentation, and the alternative is to continue overpaying benefits for the life of the pension?
2. When the worker has misrepresented his marital status and the Department has relied on that misrepresentation in calculating benefits, may the Department subsequently issue an order assessing an overpayment of benefits under RCW 51.32.240(1)(a), which provides that a worker "shall repay" an overpayment?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. **Although Birrueta Was Not Married At The Time Of His 2004 Work Injury, His Application For Workers' Compensation Benefits Stated That He Was Married**

In 2004, Birrueta injured his back at work and filed a workers' compensation claim. Exs. 1, 15; BR 147.¹ He was 20 years old. *See* Ex.

1. His application for benefits stated that he was married and listed his wife's name as "Graciela." Ex. 1; BR 147. The application also stated that he had a 3-month-old child named Araceli. Ex. 1. Birrueta signed the

¹ The record from the Board is paginated separately from the clerk's papers. The Board record consists of the certified appeal board record, which is cited as "BR," the transcript of the summary judgment argument, and 22 exhibits that were admitted into evidence. *See* BR 21-23.

The exhibit numbers in this brief refer to the admitted exhibits, and not to the exhibit numbers that the parties used when they attached documents to their summary judgment motions.

application directly underneath a statement that read, “I declare that these statements are true to the best of knowledge and belief.” Exs. 1, 15.

It is now undisputed that Birrueta was not married when he was injured at work. *See* BR 28; CP 7. In a 2012 declaration, Birrueta explained that he cannot read or write English. Ex. 15. He did not fill out the application for benefits and it was not his handwriting on the application. Ex. 15. He acknowledged that his signature appears on the application although he does not remember signing it. Ex. 15.

Birrueta’s declaration stated that he was “unconscious much of the time” when he was taken to the emergency room after his work injury. Ex. 15. He did “not remember much of what was said to me, or of what I said to anyone in the hospital or the ambulance on the way to the hospital.” Ex. 15. He recalled that someone in the ambulance asked him whether he had family in the area. Ex. 15. He responded that he had a sister named Graciela, and he “might have mentioned my niece Araceli, who is the daughter of Graciela.” Ex. 15.

B. The Department Relied On Birrueta’s Statement That He Was Married In Order To Calculate His Workers’ Compensation Benefits

The Department allowed Birrueta’s workers’ compensation claim. *See* BR 147; *see* Exs. 2, 4, 8, 9. The Department provided benefits, including time loss compensation benefits to replace Birrueta’s lost wages

while he was unable to work. *See* BR 147; *see* Exs. 8, 9, 17. A married worker receives a higher percentage of his or her wages in workers' compensation benefits, including time loss and pension benefits, than an unmarried worker. *See* RCW 51.32.060, .090.

Over the next four years, the Department issued several orders regarding Birrueta's wages at the time of injury. *See* Exs. 2, 4, 17, 18, 20. All of these orders stated that Birrueta was married. *See* Exs. 2, 17, 18. Although Birrueta protested several of these orders, none of these protests informed the Department that his marital status was incorrect. *See* Exs. 3, 5, 19, 21.

On November 23, 2004, the Department issued an interlocutory order paying time loss benefits that listed Birrueta's marital status as "married." Ex. 17; BR 147. On August 18, 2005, the Department issued a wage order in English and Spanish that established Birrueta's wages at the time of injury. Ex. 18; BR 147. That order stated that he was married ("casado") with no children.² Ex. 18; BR 147. Birrueta filed a pro se protest of the wage order, but again his protest did not inform the Department that he was not married. Ex. 19; BR 147.

On January 16, 2008, the Department issued an order affirming the August 18, 2005 wage order. Ex. 20; BR 147. Birrueta, through his

² It is not clear from the record why the child that Birrueta listed on the application for benefits was not included in the wage order.

attorney, protested that order, noting that employment security records had been requested “to determine if the current time loss rate is accurate.” Ex. 21; BR 147. The protest did not state that Birrueta was single. *See* Ex. 21.

On September 24, 2008, the Department issued a new wage order that corrected and superseded the January 16, 2008, and August 18, 2005, wage orders. Ex. 2; BR 147. The order stated that Birrueta’s compensation rate was based on his status as married with no children. Ex. 2; BR 147. Birrueta protested the September 24, 2008 wage order. Ex. 3; BR 148. Again, the protest did not state that Birrueta was single. *See* Ex. 3.

On December 17, 2008, the Department issued an order affirming the September 24, 2008 wage order. Ex. 4; BR 148. Birrueta protested that order, which was forwarded to the Board. Exs. 5-6. As with all of his other protests, this protest did not state that he was single. *See* Ex. 5. Eventually, Birrueta dismissed this appeal. Ex. 7.

C. In 2011, Birrueta Informed The Department That He Was Single At The Time Of Injury And The Department Issued Orders Under RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) Changing His Marital Status And Assessing An Overpayment

On January 31, 2011, the Department issued an order stating that Birrueta was totally and permanently disabled and would be placed on pension effective March 16, 2011. Ex. 8; BR 148. Birrueta was required

to submit a pension benefits questionnaire. BR 148; *see* Ex. 14. On the questionnaire, he stated that he was not married at the time his injury. Ex. 14; BR 148. This was the first time the Department was notified that he was not married at the time of injury. BR 148.

On March 24, 2011, the Department issued an order assessing an overpayment of \$100.86 for time loss benefits paid from February 3, 2011, (the day after it received the questionnaire) to March 15, 2011 (the day before he was placed on pension) because Birrueta had innocently misrepresented his marital status. Ex. 9; *see also* Exs. 8, 11, 12. Birrueta protested this order, which the Department affirmed on June 7, 2011.³ Exs. 10, 12.

On June 2, 2011, the Department issued an order changing Birrueta's marital status from married to single:

The department established this worker's compensation rate based upon being married on the date of injury or disease manifestation. This action was taken due to information supplied by the worker on the Report of Accident.

On 02/02/11 the worker informed the Department that information was incorrect.

Effective 02/03/11, the Department is changing the marital status upon which compensation is established to

³ From 2004 to 2011, Birrueta likely received considerably more than \$100.86 in overpaid time loss benefits. The Department limited its recoupment to the benefits it had overpaid in the six weeks before placing Birrueta on pension. *See* Ex. 9. This is consistent with RCW 51.32.240(1)(a), which limits the Department's recoupment powers to one year from the date of the overpayment in cases of innocent misrepresentation.

single. This action is taken in accordance with RCW 51.32.240(1).

The worker misrepresented his marital status on the Report of Accident and did not inform the department of his true marital status until the pension benefit questionnaire was received on 2/02/11.

Ex. 11.

D. The Board Affirmed The Department's Authority To Change The Incorrect Marital Status Under RCW 51.32.240(1) But The Superior Court Reversed

Birrueta appealed the June 2, 2011 order changing his marital status and the June 7, 2011 overpayment order to the Board. Ex. 13.

The industrial appeals judge issued a proposed decision and order granting summary judgment to the Department. BR 19-30. The hearing judge found that Birrueta or someone on his behalf had innocently misrepresented his marital status on the application for benefits and that the Department relied on this misrepresented information when it issued the December 17, 2008 wage order. BR 28.

The hearing judge concluded that RCW 51.32.240(1) authorized the Department to correct a worker's marital status "so long as earlier information provided by the recipient, or one acting on the recipient's behalf, was the result of innocent misrepresentation." BR 28. The hearing judge observed that he could find "no authority standing for the proposition that a claims adjudicator for the Department cannot rely upon the information in a notice of injury, absent some extraordinary reason for

not relying upon that information.” BR 27. Accordingly, the hearing judge affirmed both orders. BR 29.

Birrueta petitioned for review to the three-member Board. BR 8-14. In his petition, he did not contest the hearing judge’s finding that he or someone on his behalf had innocently misrepresented his marital status on the application for benefits. *See* BR 8-9, 28. He also did not contest the finding that the Department relied upon that misrepresentation when it issued the December 17, 2008 order. BR 8-9, 28. Those factual findings are therefore verities on appeal.⁴ Rather, he argued that because the December 17, 2008 wage order was final and binding, the Department lacked authority to change his marital status or to issue an overpayment based on an incorrect marital status. *See* BR 9-13. The Board denied his petition and adopted the hearing judge’s proposed decision as its final decision and order. BR 5.

Birrueta appealed to superior court. CP 53-54. The superior court reversed the Board, concluding that the Department did not have the authority to issue the June 2, 2011 order changing Birrueta’s marital status

⁴ Under RCW 51.52.104, a party waives any objections not set forth in a petition for review: “Such petition for review shall set forth in detail the grounds therefor and the party or parties filing the same shall be deemed to have waived all objections or irregularities not specifically set forth therein.” *See Allan v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 66 Wn. App. 415, 422, 832 P.2d 489 (1992). It is uncontested, therefore, that Birrueta innocently misrepresented his marital status and that the Department relied on this misrepresentation when it issued the December 17, 2008 order. *See* BR 8-9, 28.

or the June 7, 2011 overpayment order. CP 8. The superior court adopted the Board's findings that Birrueta or someone on his behalf had innocently misrepresented his marital status on the application for benefits and that the Department relied on that misrepresentation when it issued the December 17, 2008 order. CP 7; BR 28.

The Department appeals. CP 5.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Department properly changed Birrueta's marital status and assessed an overpayment after it discovered the misrepresentation. A Department order is generally final and binding on all parties if no party appeals the order within 60 days of communication and if the Department does not modify, reverse, hold in abeyance, or change the order. The Legislature, however, has explicitly mandated that a worker must repay benefits when the worker's innocent misrepresentation causes the worker to be overpaid, as long as the Department makes a timely claim for repayment. RCW 51.32.240(1)(a). This is a limited exception to finality that prevents the Department from making erroneous payments once it discovers an innocent misrepresentation.⁵

⁵ A different subsection of the statute acts as a limited exception to finality in the case of underpaid benefits that result from clerical error, mistake of identity, and innocent misrepresentation. *See* RCW 51.32.240(2). Because this case involves an overpayment of benefits, RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) applies.

As the Board has repeatedly recognized, RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) also allows the Department to issue an order correcting the innocently misrepresented fact in order to ensure that future benefits are paid at the correct rate. This is true even if the innocently misrepresented fact appears in an order that would otherwise be final and binding. Once the Department learns that a worker has innocently misrepresented his or her marital status, RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) permits the Department to issue a new order correcting this information.

The Department correctly changed Birrueta's marital status under RCW 51.32.240(1)(a). The superior court's ruling in this case would require the Department to overpay benefits each month and, at the same time, to assess overpayments on a monthly basis, potentially for decades, rather than fixing the problem once and for all. This is not what the Legislature intended when it enacted RCW 51.32.240.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from a superior court's decision in an industrial insurance case, the ordinary civil standard of review applies. RCW 51.52.140; *Malang v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 139 Wn. App. 677, 683, 162 P.3d 450 (2007). This Court reviews the decision of the trial court rather than the Board's decision. *See Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 151 Wn. App. 174, 179-81, 210 P.3d 355 (2009); RCW 51.52.140. This

Court limits its review to “examination of the record to see whether substantial evidence supports the findings made after the superior court’s de novo review, and whether the court’s conclusions of law flow from the findings.” *Ruse v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wn.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999) (quoting *Young v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 81 Wn. App. 123, 128, 913 P.2d 402 (1996)).

Statutory interpretation is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Kustura v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus.*, 169 Wn.2d 81, 87, 233 P.3d 853 (2010). The Department’s interpretation of the Industrial Insurance Act is entitled to deference because the Department is the executive agency charged with administering the Act. *Dep’t of Labor & Indus. v. Slauch*, 177 Wn. App. 439, 452, 312 P.3d 676 (2013), *review denied*, 321 P.3d 1206 (2014). The Board’s interpretation of the Act is also entitled to “great deference.” *Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Tri*, 117 Wn.2d 128, 138, 814 P.2d 629 (1991).

VII. ARGUMENT

Under RCW 51.32.240(1)(a), the Department has authority to correct erroneous information that appears in otherwise final and binding orders if the erroneous information results from the worker’s innocent misrepresentation. This is a limited exception to the principle of res judicata. The Department properly exercised this authority when it changed Birrueta’s

marital status to single based on his innocent misrepresentation that he was married at the time of injury. This change ensures that Birrueta will receive future monthly pension benefits at the correct rate, and it ensures that the Department will not be required to overpay him each month and then recoup each monthly overpayment for the remainder of his life.

A. RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) Is A Limited Exception To Res Judicata That Authorizes The Department To Recoup Overpaid Benefits That Occur As A Result Of A Worker's Innocent Misrepresentation

The plain language of RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) explicitly authorizes the Department to recoup overpayments caused by innocent misrepresentations in otherwise final orders. Unlike in the case of “adjudicator error,” the Legislature has not limited the Department’s authority in cases of innocent misrepresentation to non-final orders. The trial court erred in holding otherwise.

The goal of statutory interpretation is to discern and implement the Legislature’s intent. *Ellensburg Cement Prods., Inc. v. Kittitas Cnty.*, 179 Wn.2d 737, 743, 317 P.3d 1037 (2014). If the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, the Court’s inquiry is at an end. *Manary v. Anderson*, 176 Wn.2d 342, 352, 292 P.3d 96 (2013). When construing a statute, this Court examines the whole statute and considers the entire sequence of all statutes relating to the same subject matter. *State v.*

Monfort, 179 Wn. 2d 122, 130, 312 P.3d 637 (2013); *see also Tingey v. Haisch*, 159 Wn.2d 652, 657, 152 P.2d 1020 (2007) (when determining a statute's plain meaning, the court considers the context of the statute in which the provision is found and all related provisions).

RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) makes clear that a worker "shall repay" overpaid benefits in certain circumstances even if the order causing the overpayment is final. One such circumstance is when the worker's innocent misrepresentation causes the overpayment:

Whenever any payment of benefits under this title is made because of clerical error, mistake of identity, *innocent misrepresentation by or on behalf of the recipient thereof mistakenly acted upon*, or any other circumstance of a similar nature, all not induced by willful misrepresentation, *the recipient thereof shall repay it* and recoupment may be made from any future payments due to the recipient on any claim with the state fund or self-insurer, as the case may be. The department or self-insurer, as the case may be, must make claim for such repayment or recoupment within one year of the making of any such payment or it will be deemed any claim therefor has been waived.

RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) (emphases added). Therefore, under RCW 51.32.240(1)(a), a worker's repayment of overpaid benefits is mandatory ("shall repay") if the Department makes a timely claim for repayment. *See* RCW 51.32.240(1)(a).

By enacting RCW 51.32.240(1)(a), the Legislature has created a limited exception to *res judicata* that allows the Department to recoup

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