**FILED**

JUL 10 2014

COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION III  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
By \_\_\_\_\_

No. 32210-6-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION III

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant

v.

JOSE L. BIRRUETA,

Respondent

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Michael V. Connell  
WSBA No. 28978  
Smart, Connell, Childers & Verhulp P.S.  
501 N. 2<sup>nd</sup> Street, PO Box 228  
Yakima, WA 98907  
509-753-3333 FAX 509-576-0833  
Attorneys for Respondent

**I.

### III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Is the Department bound by the finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 & RCW 51.52.060, or does RCW 51.32.240(1) create an exception to those provisions for the Department?

### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. FINALITY OF DEPARTMENT ORDRES UNDER RCW 51.52.050

RCW 51.52.050 provides that if a Department order is not protested or appealed within 60 days of communication the order “shall” become final and binding on all parties upon expiration of the 60 day period. RCW 51.52.050 provides that:

[w]henver the department has made any order, decision, or award, it shall promptly serve the worker, beneficiary, employer, or other person affected thereby, with a copy thereof by mail. . . . The copy, in case the same is a final order, decision, or award, shall bear on the same side of the same page on which is found the amount of the award, a statement, set in black faced type of at least ten point body or size, that such final order, decision, or award shall become final within sixty days from the date the order is communicated to the parties unless a written request for reconsideration is filed with the department of labor and industries, Olympia, or an appeal is filed with the board of industrial insurance appeals, Olympia.

(emphasis added) (portion of the statute regarding electronic communication of Department orders omitted). The statute provides

that the finality provisions apply to “any order, decision, or award,” and provides for no exception to the finality provision for any type of order, decision or award other than that is not protested or appealed. *Id.*

The Washington State Supreme Court has addressed the fact that the finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 & 51.52.060 apply to all Department orders without exception in the seminal case of Marley v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 125 Wn.2d 533, 542 (1994). In *Marley*, Ms. Marley sought to file a claim for widow’s pension benefits after her husband was killed while in the course of employment. *Id.* Ms. Marley had been separated from her husband at the time of his death for more than two years, but Mr. Marley had continued to pay child support payments to their children. *Id.* Ms. Marley sought to have a Department order denying her claim for widow pension benefits set aside because she felt the facts of her case established as a matter of law that she was entitled to widow’s pension benefits, and that consequently the Department order denying her claim was in error as a matter of law.

The *Marley* court explained that “the doctrine of claim preclusion applies to a final judgment by the Department as it would to an unappealed order of a trial court. An order of judgment resting upon a finding, or findings, of fact becomes a complete and

final adjudication, binding on both the department and the claimant unless such action. . . . is set aside upon appeal or is vacated for fraud or something of like nature.” *Id.* pg. 537-38 (emphasis added). The court continued and noted that “[a]n order from the Department is void only when the Department lacks personal or subject matter jurisdiction.” *Id.* The court further explained that even if the Department order is based on a clear error of law it become a final adjudication of the issue involved if the order is not timely protested for appealed. *Id.* pg. 538.B. Analysis

## **B. STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION**

### The Plain Meaning of the Statute

The Department argues that the “plain language of RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) explicitly authorizes the Department to recoup overpayments caused by innocent misrepresentations in otherwise final orders.” Brief of Appellant, pg. 13. However, the Department fails to provide any citation to actual wording in subsection 1(a) that states the Department is not bound by the finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 & 51.52.060 merely because an overpayment is the result of innocent misrepresentation. Further, as will be discussed below RCW 51.32.240(1)(b) explicitly states that overpayments cannot be

sought when there is a final and binding order underlying the payment made as a result of an innocent misrepresentation.

#### Legislative Actions in Amending Statute

The placement of the language regarding adjudicator error within RCW 51.32.240 as a whole is instructive in considering legislative intent. When the legislature made the amendments to RCW 51.32.240 in 2004, which added the language about adjudicator error they took what was paragraph 1 of RCW 51.32.240 and divided it into three subparagraphs. The legislature took the language about overpayments because of innocent misrepresentations, clerical errors, etc. contained in paragraph 1 of the 2001 version and put that language into subparagraph (1)(a) unchanged in any relevant way.<sup>1</sup> The legislature took the remainder of the 2001 version of paragraph 1, which dealt with the authority of the director of the Department to waive overpayments, and put it unchanged into subparagraph 1(c) in the 2004 version. The legislature created subparagraph 1(b) in 2004 and added the language regarding adjudicator error.

---

<sup>1</sup> The only change in the language was the changing of the word "fraud" to the phrase "willful misrepresentation," but that change has no relevance to the issues in this case.



The Department's contention is that subparagraph 1(b) contains a separate standalone class of payments called "adjudicator error" that is unrelated in any way to payments caused by innocent misrepresentation, clerical error, or any other basis of an overpayment in subsection 1(a). However, that argument is inconsistent with the fact that the legislature placed the language regarding both innocent misrepresentation and adjudicator error both within separate but equal level subparagraphs of paragraph 1. Had the legislature intended adjudicator error to be an entirely separate category, such as willful misrepresentation, then the legislature would have put it in a separate paragraph such as they did with willful misrepresentation by placing it in paragraph 5 rather than placing it as a subparagraph of equal level and clerical error and innocent misrepresentation. The legislature did not put "adjudicator error in a separate paragraph because it did not intend to create a completely separate class of payment. This will be seen in even greater detail below.

Examine the Whole Statute & All Statutes Relating to the Same  
Subject

The Department correctly points out that when construing a statute the court examines the entire statute and all statutes relating to the same subject matter. State v. Monfort, 179 Wn.2d 122, 130 (2013). It is first important to note that RCW 51.52.050 and 51.52.060 both provide that Department orders are final and binding if not protested or appealed with 60 days of communication. There is nothing in either of those statutes that provides any exceptions to the finality provisions in them. Nor, is there even a generic signal that there may be some exceptions listed elsewhere, such as language stating that orders are final, unless stated otherwise in other sections of RCW 51. Rather the statutes establish a universal finality of all Department orders that are not protested or appealed. Any exception to those finality provisions would therefore have to be explicitly stated, and could not simply be implied as the Department seems to argue.

Looking at RCW 51.32.240 itself as a whole is also instructive. Subparagraph 1(a) does not contain any language indicating that overpayments resulting from innocent misrepresentation, or any other type of overpayment listed subsection 1(a) for that matter, is

excepted from the finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 or 51.52.060. There is therefore nothing in subsection 1(a) which would support an exception from the generally applicable finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 and 51.52.060. The subparagraph is written under the assumption that there is no final and binding order.

Subparagraph 1(b) does provide a specific exception from the finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 and 51.52.060, however, not for overpayments resulting from innocent misrepresentations or any other type of overpayment listed in subparagraph 1(a) which have become embodied in Department orders which are final and binding. RCW 51.32.240(1)(b) only excepts from the finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 & RCW 51.52.060 overpayments created because of the specific reasons listed in (3), (4), and (5) of RCW 51.32.240<sup>2</sup>. These types of payments include the following: 1) payments made in a claim which is ultimately rejected as a claim not allowable under RCW 51; 2) payments made pursuant to an adjudication by the Department or by Board order which is later determined to be incorrect after a timely protest of appeal of the payment by a party; or 3) payments induced

---

<sup>2</sup>

by willful misrepresentation. Of those three types of overpayments only those in paragraph (5) would involve situations in which a final and binding order could have been issued. Subsection 1(b) states that, “except as provided in subsections (3),(4), and(5) of this section, the department may only assess an overpayment of benefits because of adjudicator error when the order upon with the overpayment is based is not yet final as provided in RCW 51.52.050 and 51.52.060.” (emphasis added)

The legislature has therefore explicitly and expressly limited the exceptions to the finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 and 51.52.060 to a limited number of situations, and overpayments created by innocent misrepresentation or the other causes listed in subsection 1(a) are not included in the listed exceptions to the finality provisions. The Washington Supreme Court has held that in statutes containing categories “the expression of one is the exclusion of the other. ‘Legislative inclusion of certain items in a category implies that other items not in that category are intended to be excluded.’” Landmark v. Development, Inc. v. City of Roy, 138 Wn.2d 561, 571 (1999) (citations omitted). The exclusion of overpayments resulting from innocent misrepresentation or other reasons listed in subsection 1(a) from the list of causes for overpayments that are

excepted from finality provisions means that it was the intention of the legislature to not include overpayments caused by innocent misrepresentation in the types of overpayments excepted from the finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 & 51.52.060. As a result rather than RCW 51.32.240(1) creating an exception to the finality provisions for overpayments resulting from innocent misrepresentations that have been embodied in a Department order, it expressly reaffirms that the finality provisions do apply.

Further, the fact that the legislature referenced subsection (3), (4), and (5) in connection with adjudicator error reaffirms what was noted above about subparagraph 1(b) not creating a separate standalone class of possible overpayments caused by adjudicator error, but rather was reaffirming that the generally applicable finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 & 51.52.060 applied in all classes of overpayments in RCW 51.32.240, except those under (3), (4), and (5) pursuant to subsection 1(b).

Mr. Birrueta's overpayment of benefits resulted from an innocent misrepresentation, and the Department order underlying that overpayment is final and binding pursuant to RCW 51.52.050 & RCW 51.52.060. Consequently, by the terms of RCW 51.32.240(1)(a) & (b) the Department is without authority to change

Mr. Birrueta's marital status and without authority to issue an overpayment resulting from that innocent misrepresentation since the underlying order is final and binding.

### **C. PUBLIC POLICY/DEPARTMENT DUTY AS TRUSTEE**

The Department argues that sound public policy supports their being exempted from the finality provisions of RCW 51.52.050 & 51.52.060 because they are the trustees of the funds collected from workers and employers under RCW 51 for purposes of administering those funds, and that they therefore have a fiduciary duty to administer those funds. Brief of Appellant, pg. 27. However, they do not provide any citation to support the argument that a trustee is somehow exempt from applicable law in carrying out their duties.

The Department seems to assert that the only way they could fully perform their fiduciary duty is to be exempted from the finality provisions in RCW 51.52.050 & 51.52.060. However, this argument assumes that the Department is powerless to avoid situations such as those in the case at bar, and has no way to avoid the overpayment of benefits in situations such as those in the case at bar.

What ultimately prompted the discovery of the incorrect marital status was the request of the Department for a confirmation of Mr. Birrueta's marital status and a copy of Mr. Birueta's marriage certificate on the pension benefits questionnaire. Exhibit 14.

The Department could have just as easily asked for a copy of Mr. Birueta's marriage certificate at the very beginning of the claim when it issued the initial wage order. In fact, one wonders why they did not do so given that the handwriting on the accident report was clearly not that of Mr. Birrueta. Exhibit 1. Had they fulfilled their fiduciary obligation more fully at the beginning and sought documentation of Mr. Birrueta's marital status by requesting a copy of the marriage certificate then the entire situation could have been avoided.

It is likely that the Department would respond to the above by stating they have a duty to promptly administer benefits in claims, and that they could not wait until they received the marriage certificate before issuing payment of benefits. While they do have a duty to promptly administer claims they could easily have done that by issuing payment of time loss on an interlocutory basis based on the information they had on file while they gathered additional information just like they initially did when they issued the November

23, 2004 interlocutory wage rate order and time loss payment order. Exhibit 17. Rather than doing that they chose to take action on the information they had and chose to adjudicate the issue of Mr. Birrueta wage rate and marital status by issuing an order addressing those issues.

#### **D. ABSURD RESULTS**

The Department argues that if the superior court's decision that the marital status of Mr. Birrueta cannot be changed is upheld that an absurd result will follow because the Department would then have to continually assess overpayments against Mr. Birrueta at least once a year to collect the overpayments resulting from the incorrect marital status. Brief of Appellant, pg. 25-26.

This argument is logically flawed because it erroneously presupposes that the Department has the authority to assess such ongoing overpayments independent of a change to the underlying wage rate order establishing the marital status. However, the Department can only have a right to assess an overpayment if it has a right to change the marital status. The Department's argument essentially puts the cart (the right to assess the overpayments) before the horse (right to change of marital status). In short, without



the right to change the marital status the Department has not right to assess any overpayments.

This argument of the Department, as well as the tenor of the Department's brief as a whole hints at the suggestion that the Department's position should be adopted because it would somehow be unfair for the Department to be bound by the final and binding wage order which they issued. However, this argument is not persuasive. As the Board pointed out in a case cited by the Department themselves which will be discussed in more detail below: "[w]e do not believe that mistake of law or an argument based on fundamental fairness ("equitable considerations" is an appropriate ground to remove the res judicata effect" of an order that had become final and binding. In Re Jorge-Perez Rodriguez, BIIA 06-18718 (2008).

The Department chose to adjudicate Mr. Birrueta's marital status when they issued the wage rate order. They chose to rely on the information they had on file, and based on that information made a determination regarding Mr. Birrueta's marital status despite the fact they had not requested a marriage certificate from him, and despite the fact that the hand writing on the accident report listing him as married was clearly not Mr. Birrueta's hand writing. As noted

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